PROGRAMS TO INCREASE HIV TESTING AND COUNSELING: THE DOORWAY TO PREVENT AND CONTROL HIV AMONG VULNERABLE POPULATIONS

by

Bridget Leyland

BS, Biology, Pennsylvania State University, 2006

Submitted to the Graduate Faculty of

Infectious Diseases and Microbiology

Graduate School of Public Health in partial fulfillment

of the requirements for the degree of

Master of Public Health

University of Pittsburgh

2014

UNIVERSITY OF PITTSBURGH

GRADUATE SCHOOL OF PUBLIC HEALTH

This essay is submitted

by

Bridget Leyland

on

April 25, 2014

and approved by

Essay Advisor: Simon M. Barratt-Boyes, BVSc, PhD _____ Professor Department of Infectious Diseases and Microbiology Graduate School of Public Health University of Pittsburgh

Essay Reader: Linda Rose Frank, PhD, MSN, ACRN, FAAN______ Associate Professor of Public Health, Medicine, and Nursing Department of Infectious Diseases & Microbiology Graduate School of Public Health University of Pittsburgh

Essay Reader: Mark S. Friedman, PhD, MSW, MPA Assistant Professor Department of Behavioral and Community Health Sciences Graduate School of Public Health University of Pittsburgh Copyright © by Bridget Leyland

2014

PROGRAMS TO INCREASE HIV TESTING AND COUNSELING: THE DOORWAY TO PREVENT AND CONTROL HIV AMONG VULNERABLE POPULATIONS

Bridget Leyland, MPH

University of Pittsburgh, 2014

ABSTRACT

Human immunodeficiency virus (HIV) is a preventable cause of disease that infects approximately 50,000 individuals annually in the United States. Not all individuals are impacted equally and health disparities exist among racial, ethnic, and sexual minorities. Routine screening for HIV has been effective in certain populations, but widespread testing has been limited. National guidelines call for routine HIV screening among individuals aged 13-64 years seeking healthcare; however, implementation has been hindered due to barriers at the individual, health system, and societal level. HIV prevention counseling is also recommended for high risk individuals, but not required as part of routine testing because of time and staffing restraints. A number of HIV testing program interventions have sought to streamline testing and counseling procedures to combat such barriers. This review aims to summarize HIV testing and counseling programs in the U.S., the effect on individual and public health, and offer directives for future use of HIV screening. The public health importance for increasing knowledge of HIV status will benefit HIV positive individuals by promoting early entry into care and faster time to treatment. Both HIV positive and negative individuals may benefit from HIV prevention education to reduce their risk for transmitting or acquiring HIV, thus control the spread of infection.

TABLE OF CONTENTS

PREFACEVIII			
1.0		INTRODUCTION1	
	1.1	HIV/AIDS TRENDS IN THE UNITED STATES2	
	1.2	DISPARITIES IN PREVENTION AND CONTROL OF HIV5	
	1.3	CURRENT TESTING TRENDS FOR HIV9	
	1.4	KNOWLEDGE OF HIV TESTING STATUS12	
2.0		SECOND CHAPTER: HIV TESTING AND COUNSELING14	
	2.1	CURRENT HIV TESTS AND PROCEDURES16	
	2.2	HIV COUNSELING FUNDAMENTALS18	
	2.3	COORDINATED, COMPREHENSIVE, CARE NETWORKS21	
	2.4	PITTSBURGH AIDS TASK FORCE HIV TESTING PROGRAM .23	
3.0		THIRD CHAPTER: INCREASING HIV TESTING EFFORTS27	
	3.1	INDIVIDUAL EFFECTS: BENEFITS AND HARMS31	
	3.2	OVERALL EFFECT ON PUBLIC HEALTH32	
4.0		FOURTH CHAPTER: FUTURE DIRECTIONS OF HIV TESTING34	
BIB	LIO	GRAPHY	

LIST OF TABLES

Table 1. Common factors associated with HIV infection disparities	8
Table 2. Characteristics of a successful HIV care network	21
Table 3. Evidence based HIV testing and counseling programs	28

LIST OF FIGURES

PREFACE

I would like to acknowledge the Pittsburgh AIDS Task Force (PATF) for allowing me the opportunity to gain experience in HIV testing and counseling practice in a public health setting, Dr. Frank and Dr. Friedman for their invaluable feedback and contribution to this work, Dr. Barratt-Boyes for his guidance and mentoring, and the Department of Infectious Disease & Microbiology, Graduate School of Public Health for the opportunity to study, practice, and present public health.

1.0 INTRODUCTION

In the United States an estimated 15.8% of individuals living with human immunodeficiency virus (HIV) infection are unaware of their status and many continue to propagate the HIV epidemic by unknowingly spreading the virus to others.^{1,2} In 2009, 32% of individuals newly diagnosed with HIV infection progressed to acquired immunodeficiency syndrome (AIDS) within one year, suggesting these individuals have been living with HIV for years and gone undiagnosed.^{3,4} Identifying and diagnosing HIV positive individuals at the earliest stage possible is crucial to not only benefit the individual by getting them into care, but to benefit public health by controlling HIV transmission by those unaware they are positive. Broadening and increasing HIV testing to identify HIV positive individuals promotes early entry into care and faster time to highly active anti-retroviral treatment (HAART) to improve health outcomes. Knowledge of one's HIV positive status has been shown to significantly reduce high risk behavior lowering the likelihood of transmitting HIV, thus controlling the spread of infection.⁵ In addition, HIV negative individuals can benefit from HIV prevention education to practice risk reduction or to avoid acquiring HIV infection. Currently there is no cure for HIV and AIDS. Vaccines and microbicides offer hope, yet none exist to date that effectively prevent infection.

Prevention of HIV relies heavily on identifying at risk individuals and confirming their HIV status to implement behavioral changes that can lead to healthier lives and prevent HIV transmission, which begins with HIV testing. This review aims to summarize HIV testing and counseling as a mechanism to prevent and control HIV among vulnerable populations in the U.S. and to provide an example of a coordinated care approach at the Pittsburgh AIDS Task Force in Pittsburgh, PA.

1.1 HIV/AIDS TRENDS IN THE UNITED STATES

In the U.S., approximately 1.1 million people aged 13 and older are living with HIV and nearly 50,000 new infections occur each year.⁶ In 2011, the Centers for Disease Control and Prevention (CDC) estimated 49,273 incident HIV infections.⁷ Mortality due to HIV progression to AIDS has declined dramatically since the initiation of HAART;^{8,9,10,11} however AIDS-related deaths still occurred in over 15,000 individuals in 2010.⁷ The cumulative estimation for total AIDS-related deaths in the U.S. reaches over 635,000.⁷ Southern U.S. has the highest percentage (48%) of total AIDS-related deaths. When factoring in population size, the Northeastern region of the U.S. accounted for the highest rates of individuals living with AIDS and AIDS-related deaths.¹² HIV tends to localize to urban areas, with most cases in metropolitan areas defined as greater than or equal to 500,000 people. In 2011, California, Florida, Texas, and New York had the greatest number of cases with HIV infection diagnosis. The District of Columbia, Louisiana, Maryland, and Florida had the highest rates of new HIV diagnosis.¹³

Racial and ethnic groups differ with respect to the impact from the HIV epidemic (Figure 1). African Americans account for the highest number of new HIV diagnosis followed by whites, Hispanic and Latino, Asian, Multiple Race, American Indian and Alaska Native, and Native Hawaiian and Other Pacific Islander.⁷ This view changes with respect to the rates of HIV infection diagnosis for each racial or ethnic group's representation of the U.S. population.³ African Americans remain the most affected by HIV, especially young men who have sex with men (MSM). Hispanic and Latinos are disproportionately affected by HIV infection and account

for approximately 21% of all new infections.^{3,7} Native Hawaiians and Other Pacific Islanders account for a small percent of the overall population, though have a higher estimated rate of individuals unaware of their HIV positive status and the highest proportion of late HIV diagnosis, defined as progression to AIDS within one year. American Indians and Alaska Natives have the second highest proportion of late HIV diagnosis. Whites and Asians have the lowest rates of new HIV infection and late diagnosis when their representation of the U.S. population is factored.^{3,7}



Figure 1. Estimated HIV diagnoses among adults and adolescents by race and ethnicity⁷

Transmission of HIV occurs through infected blood, semen, vaginal and cervical fluid, and breast milk. The major modes of transmission are unprotected anal and vaginal sex or use of HIV contaminated shared needles for injection drug use (IDU). Transmission categories can be defined as male to male transmission, high risk heterosexual contact, and IDU of shared needles, as shown in Figure 2. Other modes of transmission include perinatal exposure or blood transfusion with HIV infected blood. HIV transmission has been significantly reduced in the U.S. due to universal HIV screening of all blood donations. The availability of antiretroviral treatment for HIV positive pregnant women has significantly decreased cases of perinatal acquired HIV infection.^{14,15}

Overall, men account for a higher proportion of HIV incidence and prevalence than women. In 2010, males represented 76% of individuals living with HIV and 69% considered themselves gay, bisexual, or MSM, representing the most significantly affected group by the HIV epidemic in the U.S. Sexual activity between men is the primary route of transmission (78% of new HIV infection in men, 63% of total new HIV infections).⁷ Approximately 1 in 4 individuals living with HIV are female and high risk heterosexual contact is the primary route of transmission (84% of new HIV infections in women). High risk heterosexual contact includes unprotected sex, sex with multiple partners, sex with a person who is HIV positive or highly at risk for HIV infection.



Figure 2. Estimated HIV diagnoses among adults and adolescents by transmission⁷

In most cases, the risk for acquiring and transmitting HIV begins at the onset of high risk sexual activity or IDU and continues as long as such behavior continues. The impact of HIV diagnosis on different age groups is varied (Figure 3), but estimates show younger individuals

aged 13-29 are at an increased risk for new infection, especially young African American and Hispanic/Latino MSM. In 2009, MSM aged 13-29 represented 69% of incident HIV infections among MSM and 27% of all new HIV infections.⁷ Children less than 13 years of age mainly acquired HIV via mother-to-child transmission, and in 2011 an estimated 127 children acquired HIV.⁷ In the U.S., perinatal transmission has been greatly reduced by screening pregnant women for HIV and treating HIV positive pregnant women with HAART to reduce viral load to undetectable levels.^{15,16} HIV positive pregnant mothers often deliver through caesarean section to reduce HIV transmission and do not breast feed.^{17,18}



Figure 3. Estimated HIV diagnoses among adults and adolescents by age⁷

1.2 DISPARITIES IN PREVENTION AND CONTROL OF HIV

HIV incidence among subpopulations in the U.S. based on gender, race/ethnicity, and transmission category are shown in Figure 4. The impact of HIV on certain subpopulations is disproportionate to their representation of the U.S. population. These vulnerable groups represent small portions of the population, yet over represent the burden of HIV infection. Disparities in HIV infection among subpopulations can be viewed by race/ethnicity and sexual orientation,

though there is overlap among groups. Vulnerable populations highly susceptible to contracting and spreading HIV present a unique challenge to HIV testing efforts.^{19,20}

Racial and ethnic minorities are highly impacted by HIV/AIDS. African Americans, who represent 12% of the U.S. population, account for 44% of Americans living with HIV/AIDS, 44% of new HIV infections, and 40% of total HIV-related deaths.^{3,7} Racial disparities exist in the percent estimated lifetime risk of becoming HIV-infected where 1 in 70 white Americans compared to 1 in 22 African Americans will become infected with HIV.²¹ African American males are 6 times more likely to acquire HIV than white males and African American females are 16 times more likely than white females.²¹ MSM transmission is the number one cause of new HIV infection in African American males (73%) and heterosexual contact is the most common cause of new infection in females (85%).⁶ African Americans are most affected by HIV/AIDS compared to other races with 475,000 cumulatively diagnosed with AIDS, an estimated 20,000 will be diagnosed with HIV, and 16,000 will be newly diagnosed with AIDS. ^{3,6} Among youths aged 13-24, HIV disparately affects African Americans where 20% of new HIV infections occur in all youths, 65% of youth HIV diagnosis occurs in African Americans with an increased risk in youth MSM.⁶ Hispanics and Latinos are also disproportionately affected by HIV, representing 17% of the U.S. populations, but accounting for 21% of all new HIV infections and 19% of persons living with HIV/AIDS. ^{3,6,22}



Figure 4. HIV infection estimates for most affected subpopulations in the U.S.³

An investigation of 91,307 HIV-related deaths in individuals aged 25-64 from 1993-2007 assessed HIV mortality trends among racial and ethnic minorities by gender and education level.²³ This study defined socioeconomic status by least education (\leq 12 years high school), some education (13-15 years some college), and most education (>16 years graduate or postgraduate). HIV caused mortality was highest in least educated African American males (53 per 100,000 black men compared to 5 per 100,000 white men). HIV caused mortality rates in least educated African American women were 30 per 100,000 pre-HAART compared to 27 per 100,000 post-HAART.²³ Higher mortality rates were observed in African Americans, especially with low income and less education. The study found no improvement in HIV mortality rates among African American women despite the advent of antiretroviral therapy.^{23,24,25}

Based on sexual orientation, MSM remain the number one most vulnerable population affected by HIV in the U.S., and HIV infection among this population has significantly increased

12% from 2008 to 2010.⁷ The CDC estimates MSM represent only 4% of the male population, yet account for 63% of all new HIV infections.²⁶ HIV infection increased 22% among MSM 13-24 years old, with African Americans disproportionately affected. From 2008 to 2010, HIV infections among young African American MSM increased by 20%.^{3,7} Among MSM, Hispanics and Latinos accounted for 22% of new HIV infections, with 39% of new infections occurring in young MSM aged 25-34. While not disproportionally affected, white MSM are greatly impacted by HIV accounting for 38% of new HIV infections, of which 29% of new infections were seen in MSM aged 25-34. Long-term data are lacking about the HIV impact on male to female transgender women and female to male transgender men; however, recent statistics suggest male to female transgender women are at an increased risk for new HIV infection.^{27,28} Even less data exist on the impact of HIV infection on transgender men, though focus is increasing. There are many factors contributing to disparities in HIV infection among vulnerable populations, as summarized in Table 1.

HIV Disparity Causes	Individual and Societal Factors	
Socioeconomic status	Lack of permanent housing and homelessness	
	Intravenous drug use or active substance abuse	
	Incarceration	
	Limited education	
Limited access to healthcare	Gaps in employment with medical coverage	
	Limited access to mental and behavioral health care	
	Language barriers	
	Lack of permanent housing and homelessness	
	Incarceration	
	Foster care	
	Welfare system	
Differences in infection	Tendency to have sex partners within the same race	
rates	Higher rates of STIs in minorities that increase risk	
	Possible unknown genetic mechanism	
Lack of physician awareness	Not practicing routine testing	

Table 1. Common factors associated with HIV infection disparities^{23,29-39}

Table 1 Continued

of high risk groups	Overwhelmed workload		
	Avoidance of uncomfortable topics (e.g. sex, LGBT, drug use)		
	Cultural incompetence for minority familial and relationship		
	values, community influence, and historical perspectives		
	Cultural incompetence for minority and gender risk behaviors		
	(e.g. sexual abuse, physical abuse, violence)		
	Lack of racial and ethnic minority investigators		
Social stigma and	Historical impact		
marginalization	Social, economic, and political inequality		
	Fear, discrimination, homophobia still exist		
	Magnified in LGBTQI and IDU populations		
Lack of HIV prevention	Cultural, religious, or philosophical beliefs do not support open		
knowledge	sex or risk behavior discussion		
	Lack of risk reduction education		
	Institutional and historical barriers		
Unknown testing status	Not-routinely offered in health care settings		
	Fear of health insurance or job loss		
	Stigma and social issues		
	Privacy concerns		
	Distrust of practitioners		
	Fear of disclosure		
Delays in diagnosis and	HIV testing is not routinely offered in health care settings		
length of time to begin	Lack of focus directed on high risk individuals		
HAART	Misconceptions surrounding medical insurance coverage		
	Poor treatment from health care professionals		
	Substance abuse, mental health conditions, or homelessness		
Poor adherence to	Fear of health care settings and social stigma		
medications	Medication side-effects		
	Substance abuse, homelessness, psychological issues		
	Other needs trump own medical needs		
	Lack of social and peer support systems		
Comorbid conditions	Symptoms mask HIV symptoms and lead to misdiagnosis		
	Patients with co-conditions not being routinely HIV tested		

1.3 CURRENT TESTING TRENDS FOR HIV

HIV testing is conducted at a variety of settings.⁴⁰ Healthcare settings include hospital, emergency room, private doctor, outpatient clinic, public health department clinic, drug

treatment facility, correctional facility, family planning clinic, prenatal clinic, sexually transmitted disease (STD) clinic, or community health clinic. Non-healthcare settings include AIDS counseling and testing site, employer or insurance company clinic, military service site, immigration site, home, and other non-clinical setting such as bars, community organizations, or mobile testing sites. Both healthcare and non-healthcare settings can be publicly funded and include public health departments, drug treatment facilities, family planning centers, prenatal clinics, STD clinics, community health clinics, AIDS testing and counseling sites, while hospitals and emergency rooms are primarily privately funded.

Over the past decade, HIV testing trends in the U.S. were assessed for ever been tested or been tested in the last 12 months.⁴¹ Results varied depending on the data source. Primarily, trends for gender, race and ethnicity showed significant increases or no change in HIV testing ever or in the last 12 months; however significant decreases were observed for tested in the last 12 months for white race and other race/ethnicity. Increased testing or no change was also seen in all age groups except for young adults 18-24 years of age. Trends for HIV infection are high for individuals aged 13-29, yet younger persons were less likely to have been HIV tested. Data from National Health and Nutrition Examination Survey (NHANES) found a significant decrease in ever been tested for this age group. The National Health Interview Survey (NHIS) reported significant decreases for ever been tested and tested in the last 12 months in non-healthcare settings.

Cost analyses have found overall, HIV testing in both healthcare and non-healthcare settings is cost effective.^{42,43,44} The *Assessment of 2010 CDC-funded Health Department HIV Testing Spending and Outcomes* found testing in non-healthcare settings required more cost than healthcare settings; however, non-healthcare settings diagnosed more HIV positive individuals.⁴⁵

In non-healthcare settings, costs were 9 times higher per testing event and 5 times higher per newly identified confirmed HIV positive diagnosis. Costs were higher due to infrastructure expenses and recruitment costs associated with reaching high risk populations who do not regularly seek clinical care. Non-healthcare settings cast a wider net than healthcare settings, which is crucial for reaching populations who do not actively seek out providers to identify HIV positive individuals and link them to care.

In healthcare settings, the CDC recommends HIV screening for patients aged 13-64 given the patient is notified testing will be performed and given the option to decline or opt-out.⁴⁶ HIV screening should be incorporated into general consent for medical care and separate written consent is not recommended. Prevention counseling as part of HIV testing programs in healthcare settings is also not recommended; however, jurisdiction over consent, pre-test and post-test counseling is regulated at the state level and not all states have adopted opt-out HIV screening.

In July of 2010, the White House released the National HIV/AIDS Strategy (NHAS), the first U.S. comprehensive and coordinated HIV/AIDS roadmap with measurable goals to be achieved by 2015.⁴⁷ The CDC supports efforts to implement the NHAS, which include action steps to reduce new HIV infection, increase access to care and improve health outcomes for people living with HIV, reduce HIV related disparities and health inequities, and achieve a more coordinated national response to the HIV epidemic. One of the measurable goals is to increase the number of individuals living with HIV who are aware of their status from 79% to 90%. Another strategy is to improve monitoring, reporting, and coordination of HIV programs across and between the federal, state, tribal, and local governments and agencies.⁴⁷

1.4 KNOWLEDGE OF HIV TESTING STATUS

It is estimated that 15.8% of individuals living with HIV are unaware of their HIV positive status.¹ The likelihood these individuals continue to unknowingly transmit the virus to others resulting in the spread of infection is high. HIV positive individual with unknown testing status are unlikely to reduce high risk behaviors such unprotected sex, sex with multiple partners, or IDU needle sharing.^{48,49,50} Knowledge of HIV status has been linked to behavioral changes that decrease risky behavior practice and promote harm reduction to reduce transmission to sexual or needle-sharing partners.^{2,51,52,53,54,55,56,57} Primary HIV infection is the time after infection before an individual's immune system has generated HIV specific antibodies to combat the virus.⁵⁸ Individuals in this acute stage of HIV infection are highly infectious and at an even higher risk of transmitting HIV.^{59,60}

Over time, lack of HIV testing status awareness can lead to increased morbidity and mortality in HIV positive individuals. The majority of AIDS-related deaths occur from opportunistic infections that thrive due to the individuals weakened immune system. Treatment with antiretroviral therapy, primarily HAART, lowers HIV viral load by suppressing viral replication and increasing CD4+ T-lymphocytes thereby improving immune function to significantly delay progression to AIDS.^{8,9,10,11} By maintaining the immune system, HAART has dramatically reduced the number of opportunistic infections and improved survival rates for persons living with HIV. Viral load suppression also offers protection for sex partner, prevents mother-to-child transmission, and improves the quality of life for the person with HIV. Faster time to treatment results in better control of the HIV virus and better health outcomes; however,

to be able to take advantage of highly effective HIV therapy individuals must know their testing status first.⁶¹

To increase awareness of HIV status the CDC established the Expanded Testing Initiative (ETI), which included PS07-768: Expanded and Integrated HIV Testing for Populations Disproportionately Affected by HIV, Primarily African American (2007-2010), followed by PS10-10138: Expanded HIV Testing for Disproportionately Affected Populations (2010-2011), and currently PS12-1201: Comprehensive HIV Prevention Programs for Health Departments (2012-2017).⁶² The purpose of the ETI is to significantly increase the number of individuals tested in regions with high rates of HIV among disproportionately affected populations and to support implementation of the CDC recommendations for HIV testing in healthcare settings. Through PS07-768, the CDC funded jurisdictions in high HIV burdened areas to increase HIV testing, linkage to medical care, and prevention services. Over a 3 year period, 2,786,739 HIV tests were conducted and 18,432 (0.7%) were newly identified confirmed HIV positive, of which 74.3% were linked to HIV medical care.⁶² PS10-10138 and PS12-1201 were designed to continue the progress made under PS07-768 and expand routine HIV testing services for other high risk populations, including Hispanic men and women, MSM and IDU by funding more jurisdictions.

2.0 SECOND CHAPTER: HIV TESTING AND COUNSELING

HIV testing was first introduced in 1985 to screen blood donors and reduce transmission via blood transfusions. By 1987 the implications of testing HIV positive became apparent and the first set of guidelines were established by the U.S. Public Health Service (USPHS) calling for routine testing and counseling among high risk individuals seeking STD treatment.⁶³ Six years later, the CDC extended recommendations for voluntary HIV testing and counseling to hospitals, acute care settings, and emergency departments. Dependent on HIV/AIDS rates, hospitals were encouraged, not required, to routinely offer voluntary counseling and HIV testing to all patients 15-54 years of age. Voluntary and confidential testing, documented informed consent, and explanation of testing was recommended.⁶⁴ Client-centered counseling to assess high risk behaviors, develop tailored prevention plans, and safer goal strategies was introduced in 1994.⁶⁵

Voluntary HIV testing and counseling was recommended in all pregnant women in 1995 by the USPHS after treatment with anti-retroviral medication resulted in significant reduction in perinatal HIV transmission.^{66,67} To reduce barriers of HIV testing in pregnant women, the CDC modified these recommendations in 2001 simplifying counseling and the consent process.⁶⁸ Health-care settings were expanded to include private and publicly funded clinics to improve access of HIV testing. The 2001 guidelines also suggested testing be routinely offered to all patients in high HIV prevalent settings, and targeted HIV testing by doing risk assessment be implemented in areas with low HIV prevalence.⁶⁹

Providers and patients found that discomfort discussing sensitive topics, time restrictions, and written informed consent presented as barriers to HIV testing.^{70,71} To combat this issue, the CDC created a new initiative in 2003 called *Advancing HIV Prevention: New Strategies for a*

Changing Epidemic, to make routine voluntary HIV testing part of medical care at the same level as other diagnostic and screening tests, implement new models for diagnosing HIV outside medical settings, focus prevention on HIV-infected persons and their partners, and decrease perinatal HIV transmission by universal rapid testing of all pregnant women, prenatally, during labor and delivery, or postpartum.⁷² HIV prevention counseling was considered desirable for high risk individuals, but not always feasible.⁷³

The CDC *Revised Recommendations for HIV Testing of Adults, Adolescents, and Pregnant Women in Health-Care Settings, 2006*, are in circulation today.⁷⁴ From 2004-2006, the CDC utilized a multi-disciplinary approach and solicited the aid of health-care providers, professionals, local health officials, public health agencies, researchers, clinicians, community organizations, HIV specific care givers and persons living with HIV to provide feedback on how broaden and increase HIV testing, especially for those at high risk. The final recommendations were produced in response to evidence that feasibility of increased HIV testing would improve by simplifying the process, which would also lower costs. Of note, the CDC does not recommend prevention counseling with HIV testing in healthcare settings because it is seen as a barrier to testing; however, prevention counseling is recommended for persons at high risk for HIV and in non-medical settings. The CDC also recommended utilization of opt-out HIV testing, where the individual is notified the HIV test will be performed and consent is inferred unless the individual declines. Opt-in HIV testing requires an individual explicitly consents in writing to receive an HIV test.

The 2010 CDC Sexually Transmitted Disease Treatment Guidelines recommendations for Detection of HIV Infection: Screening and Establishing a Diagnosis include opt-out HIV screening part of routine healthcare for all individuals aged 13-64 years.⁴⁶ The CDC also calls for routing screening for all individuals seeking STD evaluation regardless of specific HIV risk behavior and re-screening high risk individuals every 3-6 months. The guidelines suggest routinizing HIV testing in combination with other tests, such as blood pressure and cholesterol, will aid in identifying and diagnosing HIV positive individuals and help reduce stigma that may present as a barrier to testing. The U.S. Preventive Services Task Force (USPSTF) recommends routine HIV screening for everyone aged 15-65 years and targeting screening in those aged less than 15 and greater than 65 years who are at high risk for HIV infection.

In the U.S., mandates and laws regarding HIV testing and counseling are governed by laws enacted at the state level.⁷⁵ Although the federal government does not have jurisdiction over state mandates regarding HIV testing, 90.2% of states adopted or revised testing laws considered compatible with the 2006 CDC recommendations.⁷⁶ Variations among HIV testing laws occur from state to state for opt-in versus opt-out informed consent, HIV pre- and post-test counseling, availability of anonymous testing, required partner notification, implementation of routine HIV testing, rapid and confirmatory testing, and provisions regarding minor and adolescent testing.⁷⁷ Mandates around HIV testing also vary between states for different settings such as healthcare facilities, correctional institutions, substance abuse or mental health treatment centers.

2.1 CURRENT HIV TESTS AND PROCEDURES

Advances in HIV testing have improved the simplicity, reliability, and safety of conducting testing in healthcare and non-healthcare settings. There are two different modes of detection for HIV tests: HIV antibody production and HIV viral load. Conventional antibody tests are enzyme immunoassays (EIA) or enzyme-linked immunosorbent assays (ELISA) and

can be performed on blood or oral fluid in a laboratory. Test results are usually available between 2-14 days. Rapid antibody tests are point-of-care tests that can also be performed on blood by finger prick or oral fluid with a result turnaround time of 20-40 minutes and are highly sensitive.^{78,79} Antibody tests can be classified as 1st, 2nd, 3rd, and 4th generation based on the antibodies they detect: 2nd generation detects IgG antibodies; 3rd generation detects IgM and IgG antibodies; and 4th generation detects HIV antibodies and the HIV viral p24 antigen.⁷⁸

Antibody test negative results indicate the test did not detect HIV antibodies and are considered definitive for no HIV infection given the time point of exposure. The window period, which is the time it takes for HIV antibodies to develop after infection, can take up to 3 months after exposure to HIV.^{80,81} This is critical for a HIV antibody tests to be definitive. Individuals seeking antibody testing, should be made aware of the window period and advised to retest 3 months after the point of known or possible exposure, such as unprotected sex or shared needle IDU. Antibody test positive results are considered preliminary positive for detection of HIV antibodies and require confirmatory testing. HIV confirmatory testing should also be conducted for inconclusive antibody test results.

Confirmatory tests are typically Western blot, HIV viral load test, or an antibody test of a different brand.⁸² HIV antibody tests tend to be highly sensitive and less specific, which means they can produce false-positive results. A Western blot, the most common confirmatory test, is a highly specific antibody test that has a lower likelihood of yielding a false-positive result. HIV viral load tests detect viral RNA by polymerase chain reaction (PCR) and measure the level of HIV in blood, which is also commonly performed to monitor viral suppression in HIV positive individuals on anti-retroviral medication. If Western blot or HIV viral load tests are not feasible, a second antibody test from a different manufacturer can be performed.

17

2.2 HIV COUNSELING FUNDAMENTALS

HIV counseling arms individuals with tools to reduce their risk of acquiring or transmitting HIV. Counseling provides an opportunity to confront myths about HIV and empower individuals with facts surrounding transmission, infection, and treatment. Individuals also have the opportunity to bring up concerns and ask questions. The current CDC guidelines do not recommend HIV prevention counseling in healthcare settings due to lack of evidence for effectiveness.⁴⁶ While the CDC provides national recommendations, requirements for HIV testing, consent, and counseling vary under state law and some states require pre- and post-test counseling. Non-healthcare settings may be more likely to use risk reduction counseling targeted at high risk individuals who do not regularly seek medical care. Both healthcare and non-healthcare settings may benefit from having staff trained in HIV prevention counseling to ensure they give information and answer questions correctly. The procedure for HIV prevention counseling using a client centered approach is outlined below.^{65,69,74}

Pre-test Procedure

- 1. Offer the test
- 2. Explain the test, how it is used and its limitations
- 3. Explain how the results are interpreted
- 4. HIV prevention, exposure, and treatment information must be available
- 5. Obtained written consent, which can be part of a general medical consent

Post-test Procedure

- 1. Provide results for both positive and negative individuals
- 2. Explain what the results mean
- 3. For test positive patients, a second confirmatory test is necessary and they should avoid behavior that could put others at risk (i.e. use condoms during sex or refrain from sex altogether)
- 4. Provide information about preventing transmission
- 5. Explain the benefits of contact tracing or partner services
- 6. For test positive individuals:

- a. Provide referrals for proper health care providers and services
- b. Provide referrals for community and case management services
- c. Provide information regarding HIV
- d. Test results are confidential; however, confirmatory test positive results are reported to the health department

Consent: First and foremost, counselors should address with the individual seeking testing that all information will remain confidential under the Health Insurance Portability and Accountability Act of 1996 (HIPAA) and will not be disclosed to any employment or insurance agencies under the Confidentiality of HIV-Related Information Act.^{83,84} Second, they should explain that some of the discussion to follow will surround personal information and sensitive topics may be uncomfortable, and that no judgment or assumptions will be made. The goal is to inform about the facts on HIV and create a plan to eliminate or reduce HIV risk so they remain healthy. If required under state laws, counselors should inform the individual seeking testing that in order to perform the HIV test and disclose the results; the individual must sign a consent form. This form may contain demographic information useful not only for reporting, but so the counselor may gather information such as age, race/ethnicity, and gender useful for assessing risk. Counselors should urge the individual to interrupt at any time he or she may feel uncomfortable and reassure that information will remain confidential and used to provide the best outcome for the individual.

Assessing risk: Clients may not be aware of their own behaviors that put them at risk for HIV infection. By asking open ended questions, such as "What brings you to get testing today?," allows the individual to direct the discussion to suit their needs. Common reasons an individual may seek HIV testing include an unprotected sex act, drug use with shared needles, or a healthcare professional accidental needle stick. If the individual is hesitant to offer information readily, use a combination of open ended questions or direct yes or no questions to gather information on sexual orientation or IDU. The next series of open ended questions should focus on the individuals' circumstance that brought them to seek HIV testing. Circumstances may include current and past sexual practices including number of sex partners, gender of each partner, condom usage, ever had unprotected sex, forms of birth control, past pregnancy, any chance of pregnancy, STI history, substance abuse including tobacco and alcohol use/quantity, illegal or prescribed drugs for recreational purposes, and were they injectable or needles were used or shared.

Identify safer goal behaviors: Counselors should help the client understand how a specific behavioral change directly links to their risk behavior. For example, always using condoms, abstaining from sex acts, always using clean syringes during IDU, or abstaining from IDU virtually eliminates the risk of HIV infection. The goal behavior must be attainable and the client must be willing to adopt. This may not always be sufficient to eliminate risk for HIV infection. If the client is unwilling to completely eliminate a risk factor, identification of alternate goals will reduce HIV risk such as reducing the number of sex partners or keeping clean works for IDU. Counselors should also discuss previous successes and barriers.

Create client centered risk elimination or harm reduction plan: Together the counselor and client design a specific plan with incremental steps the client can carry out to help adopt safer goal behaviors based on the *Transtheoretical Model*.⁸⁵ In this model, behavior modification occurs through progression of 5 stages: pre-contemplation, contemplation, preparation, action, and maintenance. Ideally individuals reach termination and eliminate the unhealthy behavior or they may relapse and cycle through the stages several times before termination. At first it may seem obvious to simply summarize the safer goal behaviors and tell the client to implement them; however, creating a realistic, achievable plan must take into account other circumstances. Clients may have other needs that take prioritization over their own health and risk reduction behavior including domestic violence, alcohol and substance abuse, lack of housing, lack of transportation, need for childcare, unemployment, mental illness, and incarceration. If warranted, referrals should be provided to help guide clients to the proper sources specific for the challenges they are facing. Ancillary services are an important link for entry into and retention in HIV care including case management, mental health support, substance abuse treatment, transportation, childcare, or housing assistance.^{86,87} Such services aid in efforts to improve the client's quality of life, thus assist in their HIV care and prevention.

2.3 COORDINATED, COMPREHENSIVE, CARE NETWORKS

The most successful HIV prevention networks offer programs that are coordinated, comprehensive, and care-focused.^{88,89,90,91} Coordination involves effective communication among many disciplines including providers, researchers, counselors, case management, community organizations, referral services, insurance agencies, and the client. A comprehensive approach includes a wide-range of care services that covers a majority of needs to reach as many individuals as possible. The patient or client care should be held to the utmost professional standard, making sure resources are reliable, making appropriate and adequate recommendations, and integrating the needs of the individual seeking care into the services provided.

A comprehensive and coordinated HIV care program should include:			
Dedicated and	•	HIV care coordinators	
experienced team of	•	Physician (an HIV expert clinician is ideal)	
professionals	•	Nurses	

 Table 2. Characteristics of a successful HIV care network

Table 2 Continued

	· Pharmacist	
	Counselors trained in HIV prevention	
	· Case-manager	
	Administrative staff	
Cover all aspects of	· Offer HIV testing, prevention and education counseling	
HIV care	HIV diagnosis confirmation	
	• Promote early entry into care and fast time to treatment	
	• Focus on follow-up and retention in care	
	· Implement and adhere to current HIV prevention and treatment	
	guidelines and recommendations	
Patient confidentiality	· Implement and adhere to HIPAA guidelines	
	• No breach of confidentiality will be tolerated	
	· Legal repercussions and expulsion will be dealt	
	• Teach standards and guidelines to reduce opportunities for	
	patient information leaks	
	· Utilize electronic medical records to eliminate paper charts	
	• Explain how patient trust is imperative to successful HIV care	
	· Constant measures to assess in-house care by evaluation and	
	quality improvement	
Cultural competence	Culture differences among minority and ethnic groups	
	· LGBTQI community	
	· Women's issues	
	· Self-cultural view	
	· Increase awareness of cultural values and ethics	
	Increase communication skills across cultures	
	• Multi-lingual staff to overcome language barriers	
	Culture friendly waiting and exam rooms	
Strong referral and	· Mental health services	
linkage system to	· Ob-Gyn providers	
alternate medical and	· Family planning	
support service	Substance abuse treatment	
providers	· Homeless services	

Clinicians, supervisors, and care coordinators should lead their team and develop workplace policies to improve the quality of care based on the U.S. Department of Health and Human Services: Health Resources and Services Administration (HRSA) guidelines for HIV/AIDS clinical care and the National Institutes of Health HIV/AIDS related medical practice guidelines.^{92,93} Policies should implement guidelines for cultural competence and patient

confidentiality practices for no tolerance work zones and enforce strict repercussions in the event of a confidentiality breach. Clinic staff should be educated on addressing different cultures or backgrounds without using judgment. In regions with high immigration, hire or make available as needed bi-lingual or multi-lingual staff members specific for that demographic. Programs should enforce HIPAA guidelines and confidentiality practices. Focus should be placed on the imperative role that the patient-clinic relationship factors in HIV care and affects not only the patient, but the community including the staff themselves. Evaluation measures should be in place to monitor quality of care such as annual completion of competence and confidentiality modules, tracking patient follow-up data for improvements, and obtaining patient feedback.

2.4 PITTSBURGH AIDS TASK FORCE HIV TESTING PROGRAM

The Pittsburgh AIDS Task Force (PATF) is a not-for-profit 501(c) (3) organization with a mission *dedicated to supporting and empowering all individuals living with HIV/AIDS and preventing the spread of infection.*⁹⁴ The PATF excels as a HIV/AIDS prevention agency that incorporates in house free and confidential HIV testing and counseling with community prevention and education outreach. The PATF serves as a model for coordinated and comprehensive care from the first stop for individuals seeking HIV testing, case management, linkage to care, and discounted pharmaceuticals for HIV positive individuals who qualify under the Ryan White CARE Act.⁹⁵ Ancillary to HIV specific care and treatment, the PATF provides comprehensive services including a food pantry, transportation and emergency fund assistance, transitional and permanent housing, pro bono legal services, support groups, and advocacy.

The PATF conducts free and anonymous HIV testing Sunday through Friday at a location accessible to public transportation and at various offsite locations commonly frequented by high risk groups.^{83,84} They perform approximately 2,000 HIV tests annually and provide medical case management for over 650 HIV positive individuals. The case management program is critical to provide medication assistance and ensure adherence among vulnerable populations who may not seek healthcare otherwise. In addition, the PATF has provided housing for 50 individuals living with HIV/AIDS. Of those seeking HIV care services, 57% identified as gay, lesbian, or bisexual and the majority live below the poverty line.

In addition to walk-in HIV testing, the PATF has developed a strong network in the community and continuously works to expand outreach and opportunities to provide HIV testing and prevention education throughout. The PATF targets outreach and recruitment efforts at populations who are high risk and underserved in the Greater Pittsburgh Area and Western Pennsylvania. HIV transmission rates are highest in men who have sex with men (MSM, 53.9%), followed by high risk heterosexual transmission (21.1%), and intravenous drug users (IDU, 11.6%), with minorities over representing persons living with HIV/AIDS.⁹⁶

HIV/AIDS in Allegheny County, Pennsylvania, 201096

- Incidence: 12.51 per 100,000
- New Diagnosis: 98 HIV & 55 AIDS cases
- Persons living with HIV/AIDS: 2344 individuals (78% of Western PA)
 - 80.7% Male, 19.3% Female
 - 51.5% White, 39.1% Black, 3.6% Hispanic

To intervene in these vulnerable yet differing populations, the PATF coordinates HIV prevention programs including GirlTalk aimed at adolescent females 13-18 years of age, GirlFriends aimed at adult females, and the M2M project to reach those at highest risk for HIV transmission in the MSM population. The GirlTalk and GirlFriends programs center on empowering women to make healthy and safe lifestyle choices. These projects create a safe and fun environment for teen or adult women to come together and discuss health education topic including sexual health, HIV, STI's, substance abuse, peer pressure for teens, domestic violence and basic prevention knowledge in a small group setting. HIV knowledge is assessed and before and after education interventions using questionnaires. The GirlTalk program recently increased efforts to reach out and recruit girls who are less feminine or more masculine, a vulnerable population that has previously gone under the radar with respect to HIV prevention efforts. The M2M 1st Wednesday and 4th Tuesday outreach projects offered a safe haven for lesbian, gay, bisexual, transgender, queer or questioning, and intersex (LGBTQI) individuals to feel comfortable to discuss topics around HIV and sexual orientation while having fun. Workshops were designed to aid individuals with employment resources, resume building, interview practice, career development, and other topics deemed relevant by the participants.

All outreach projects aimed to educated high risk individuals and offer free and confidential HIV testing. HIV testing is performed using the OraQuick ADVANCE® Rapid HIV-1/2 Antibody Test and results are available in 20 minutes for detection of HIV-1 and HIV-2 antibodies with 99.3% sensitivity (CI=98.4-99.7%) and 99.8% specificity (CI=99.6-99.9%).⁹⁷ The OraSure® HIV-1 Oral Specimen Collection Device is conducted as a follow-up confirmatory test for reactive or invalid OraQuick® Rapid test. This confirmatory test also uses an oral fluid sample that is sent out for a laboratory-based enzyme immunoassay (EIA) screening test and Western Blot, the current gold standard for HIV testing.⁹⁸

HIV prevention often deals with sensitive topics that can be uncomfortable to some. Social stigma and stereotyping associated with HIV have marked this disease with shame masking efforts to promote prevention and testing. The PATF utilizes a variety of approaches to overcome social fear to engage communities and marginalization to target populations difficult to reach. Much of HIV prevention and care is centered on the clients' needs. Just as no one individual is the same, no one program exists to encompass all individuals at risk for HIV, and the PATF is constantly evaluating and re-evaluating their programs to capture individuals who are underserved.

3.0 THIRD CHAPTER: INCREASING HIV TESTING EFFORTS

National guidelines and policies call for improving early HIV diagnosis by increasing the number of HIV positive individuals unaware of their status that were offered testing and subsequent HIV care and prevention services.⁹⁹ Healthcare settings are encouraged to implement routine HIV testing; however, widespread implementation has been slow.^{99,100,101,102,103,104} Rarely does an individual walk into a healthcare provider visit and is offered an HIV test. Barriers to increase testing efforts in healthcare settings include cost reimbursement, overwhelming provider schedules, lack of time to conduct risk assessment and counseling, and lack of HIV trained healthcare staff.^{44,102,105,106,107} Non-healthcare settings are better suited to provide targeted HIV prevention counseling and disseminate HIV education, though counseling is not required. Non-healthcare organizations can dedicate more time to each individual seeking HIV testing or education, yet there remains a population who do not utilize these services. Targeted testing programs in both healthcare and non-healthcare settings have been beneficial and acceptable by patients and clients, but still face time and follow-up barriers to identify HIV positive individuals.^{103,107,108,109}

There are a number of evidence based interventions that aim to reduce high risk behavior and HIV infection, and some directly measure HIV testing rates. Most studies report reduced high risk behavior from brief patient centered risk reduction counseling; however evidence has shown mixed effects from risk reduction counseling on reducing HIV and other STI acquisition. Tailored interventions were shown to be effective among high risk populations such as MSM and African American or Latino minorities. Onsite rapid HIV testing was shown to be very well accepted and effective at increasing receipt of HIV test and results. A program designed to notify sex and needle sharing partners of HIV positive individuals that they are at risk for transmission was also very effective in targeting and increasing HIV testing at high risk individuals and identifying HIV infection in individuals who were unaware. Evidence based HIV testing and counseling interventions are summarized in Table 3.

Study Name	Intervention	Outcome(s)
The AWARE Randomized Clinical Trial ¹¹⁰	 5012 HIV negative patients aged >18 were randomized to 2 study arms to assess the effect of brief risk reduction counseling on STI acquisition: 1. Rapid HIV test with brief patient- centered HIV risk reduction counseling 2. Rapid HIV test with standard testing information only 	 HIV & other STIs measured at 6 months: Significant findings for intervention: No difference in 6 month STI incidence between study arms Suggests no added benefit from brief patient centered risk reduction counseling in reducing STI incidence
Project RESPECT Randomized Clinical Trial ¹¹¹	 5758 HIV negative, heterosexual patients aged >14 were randomized to 4 study arms to assess 2 counseling interventions on STI acquisition and risk behavior: 1. 4 enhanced interactive theory based sessions 2. 2 brief interactive risk reduction sessions 3. 2 brief didactic HIV test information only sessions 4. 2 brief didactic HIV test information only sessions with no follow up 	 STIs measured at 6 and 12 months: Significant findings for interventions: <i>Enhanced Counseling</i> Lower rate of STI incidence Greater reported condom use, no unprotected vaginal sex, ≤ 1 sex partner <i>Brief Counseling</i> Lower rate of STI incidence Greater reported no unprotected vaginal sex, ≤ 1 sex partner, no causal or new partners Suggests brief counseling effectively lowered STI incidence and had better retention rates than enhanced counseling
Project RESPECT-2 Randomized Clinical Trial ¹¹²	 3,297 HIV negative patients aged 15- 39 were randomized to 2 study arms to assess the effect of a booster counseling intervention on STI acquisition and risk behavior: 1. 2 brief interactive risk reduction sessions plus a 3rd booster session at 6 months 2. 2 brief interactive risk reduction sessions 3. Participants were randomized to receive a rapid or standard HIV test 	 STIs measured at 3, 6, 9, 12 months: Significant findings for intervention: Less reported ≥ 2 sex partners or unprotected sex with non-primary partner No difference for incident STI Type of HIV test, rapid versus standard, did not modify the intervention effects Suggests brief counseling+ booster was not more effective at preventing incident STI, but did reduce sexual risk behavior compared to brief counseling only

Table 3. Evidence based HIV testing and counseling programs

Table 3 Continued

National Drug Abuse Treatment Clinical Trials Network: HIV Rapid Testing and Counseling Study (CTN 0032) ¹¹³	 1281 HIV negative participants from community based drug treatment programs were randomized to 3 study arms to assess HIV testing and risk behaviors: 1. Onsite rapid HIV testing with HIV risk reduction counseling 2. Onsite rapid HIV testing with testing information only 3. Referral for offsite HIV testing 	 Receipt of HIV test and results were measured at 1 month and risk behaviors at 6 months. HIV rapid test & confirmed positive cases: 2 onsite with counseling 1 onsite with information only Significant findings for interventions: Greater receipt of HIV test and results in onsite HIV testing groups than offsite No difference in receipt of HIV test and results between onsite counseling and onsite information only groups No difference in unprotected sex Suggest onsite rapid HIV testing increased receipt of test and results and identified HIV infection in drug treatment centers
The EXPLORE Randomized Controlled Study ¹¹⁴	 4295 HIV negative MSM age ≥ 16 were randomized to 2 study arms to assess a behavioral intervention on HIV acquisition and risk behavior: 1. 10 core counselling sessions every 4-6 months followed by 7 booster sessions every 3 months 2. 2 bi-annual brief counseling sessions using RESPECT model 3. Participants received HIV test every 6 months 	 HIV infection in drug treatment centers HIV infection and risk behavior were measured every 6 months. HIV acquisition: 15.7% lower rate in intervention group when adjusted for baseline covariates Significant findings for intervention: Less reported any unprotected anal sex, serodiscordant unprotected anal sex Drug and alcohol use was associated with unprotected anal sex Suggests tailored behavioral intervention was feasible to reduce HIV infection in MSM; need for interventions to address serodiscordant partner, drug and alcohol risk
Men Maintaining Wellbeing and Healthy Relationships (HoMBReS)	 30 soccer teams comprised of 222 Latino men aged ≥18 were randomized to 2 study arms to assess a lay health advisor (LHA) intervention on HIV testing and condom use: 1. 15 soccer teams elected and trained LHAs work with teammates 2. 15 soccer teams served as the control group with no LHA 	 HIV infection and condom use were measured every 3 months. Significant findings for intervention: More reported HIV testing at 18 months More reported consistent condom use with all partners at 3 months Suggests LHA intervention was feasible to increase HIV testing and condom use among Latino men
Many Men, Many Voices (3MV) ¹¹⁶	 338 HIV negative African American MSM ages ≥18 were randomized to 2 study arms to assess a small group intervention on HIV testing and risk behavior: 1. 6 consecutive 2-3 hour MSM tailored HIV/STI prevention sessions at a weekend retreat 2. Waitlist control group 	 HIV, STI, and risk behavior measured at 3, 6 months. Significant findings for intervention: Less reported any unprotected anal sex with casual partners Greater reported HIV testing Suggests tailored prevention intervention was feasible to increase HIV testing and reduce sex risk behavior among MSM

Table 3 Continued

Strength	81 young MSM of color (mean	HIV diagnosis for intervention group:
Through	age=21) were enrolled into a social	• 2/3 newly diagnosed
Youth Livin'	marketing campaign intervention to	• 1/3 diagnosed during the acute stage
Empowered	assess HIV acquisition:	• Suggests a social network campaign is a
$(STYLE)^{117}$	1. Social marketing campaign,	feasible intervention to increase HIV
×	targeted outreach and HIV testing,	diagnosis among young MSM of color
	and a strongly linked medical and	
	social support network	
Partner	Systematic review of 9 studies to	Partner notification results:
Counseling	assess partner notification, HIV testing	• 67% partners located and notified
and Referral	and acquisition:	• 63% partners were HIV tested
Services	• Provider referral-HIV positive	• 20% partners tested HIV positive
$(PCRS)^{118}$	patient voluntarily discloses partner	PCRS delivery results:
` <i>`</i>	information and provider notifies	• Little difference among 3 partner
	• Patient referral-HIV positive patient	notification delivery methods
	notifies partners	• Few studies assessed patient or contact
	• Contact referral-HIV positive	referral
	patient voluntarily discloses partner	• Suggest provider referral PCRS effectively
	normation and agrees to notify	increased HIV testing and diagnosis among
	if not completed within time period	
Danid HIV	22 000 rapid HIV antibody tasts wora	HIV tosting status
	administered to high risk individuals:	• 30% nover been tested
Testing in	Trained CBO staff offered	• 30% never been tested
Community-	counseling and repid HIV testing to	Papid HIV antibody test results:
based	clients either in mobile testing units	• 331 (1%) preliminary positive
Organizations	or inside venues that included parks	• 286 (86%) received confirmatory test
$(CBO)^{119}$	shelters hotels clubs health fairs	• 267 (93%) confirmed HIV positive
	svringe-exchange sites and	• 17 (6%) confirmed HIV negative
	community clinics.	• 94% positive predictive value
		• Suggests rapid HIV testing conducted by
		CBOs effectively identified HIV infection
		among high risk populations
Rapid HIV	372 960 rapid HIV antibody tests were	Rapid HIV antibody test results
Test	administered at 230 organizations by	• 5.385 (1.4%) preliminary positive
Distribution	107 coordinators:	• 4.650 (1.2%) confirmed HIV positive
$(DTDD)^{120}$	• 121 state and local health	• 79.1% confirmed results were provided to
(KIDP)	departments	clients
	• 101 medical centers and	90% coordinators interviewed reported
	community-based organizations	increased HIV screening was due to:
	8 correctional facilities	• RTDP providing additional tests (81%)
	• 48 coordinators were interviewed	• Clients did not have to return for a second
		visit to receive results (79%)
		• Suggests rapid HIV testing increased client
		acceptance and staff availability to conduct
		more testing

Emergency departments offer a healthcare setting to implement non-targeted routine HIV testing and identify high risk individuals, yet the fast pace, urgent nature of this setting has hindered utilization. A survey of emergency department providers showed they rarely encourage patients seeking STD treatment to receive an HIV test during their visit. Slightly more providers (35%) referred patients to seek HIV testing at outside sources; however, lack of follow-up services and poor compliance of patients render referrals less effective.^{104,121} Alternately, an analysis found emergency department testing identified more HIV infection than STD clinics and publicly funded sites.¹²² Providing HIV counseling in fast pace healthcare settings is less clear. HIV prevention counseling has been shown effective to reduce risk behavior in HIV positive individuals; but some studies have shown little effect of counseling on HIV negative individuals.^{109,123} Two randomized controlled trials assessing prevention counseling found the nature and duration of prevention counseling might influence its effectiveness.^{111,114} Routine testing in emergency departments may also help lift stigma and fear by normalizing HIV testing.^{124,125,126,127}

3.1 INDIVIDUAL EFFECTS: BENEFITS AND HARMS

Knowledge of HIV status by receiving testing is important for both HIV positive and HIV negative individuals. Prompt entry into care and time to treatment is critical for HIV positive individuals to promote better health outcomes, and getting HIV tested is the first step to identify and guide these individuals to the appropriate resources. HIV positive persons who are unaware of their diagnosis are a missed opportunity to intervene in HIV progression to AIDS, which results in increased susceptibility to opportunistic infections and cancers that cause severe disease and death. The sooner an HIV positive person receives treatment with HAART increases their likelihood for survival. HIV testing has the potential to diagnose individuals at an early stage before symptoms develop with routing testing programs. Studies have shown many HIV positive individuals seen in healthcare settings while they are unaware of infection were not tested or diagnosed.^{103,108} Survival benefits for screening HIV positive patients and linking them to care has been shown to outweigh the substantial costs associated with HIV care.^{44,105,128}

Counseling and support groups help individuals cope with their HIV diagnosis. Becoming newly diagnosed with HIV can elicit many emotions such as fear, anger, sadness and concerns of death and stigma. Community organizations and peer groups for HIV support are excellent resources to alleviate individuals' fear and enlighten them on the positive steps they can take to embrace their diagnosis and lead a healthy fulfilling life. Prevention counseling arms individuals with the knowledge and resources to go back into the community and practice safe goal behaviors. Knowing HIV status is a tool that can promote healthy behaviors to reduce HIV acquisition among HIV negative individuals, though studies on prevention counseling among persons who are HIV negative have mixed results on the adoption of risk reduction behaviors.^{103,104,111,114,123} Regardless of HIV status, individuals who seek testing and counseling may take the HIV health education knowledge gained back to their partner, friends, family, or community thus spreading positive promotion to get tested and practice harm reduction.

3.2 OVERALL EFFECT ON PUBLIC HEALTH

The benefit of early HIV diagnosis by testing is important for public health prevention efforts to reduce transmission to sex and needle sharing partners.¹²⁹ Knowledge of HIV status

has been shown to greatly promote risk reduction among HIV positive individuals, which aids in the prevention of transmission because persons who are aware of their HIV-positive status take precautions to avoid infecting others.² Data have shown HIV positive individuals significantly reduce their risk of transmitting HIV infection to others.^{2,51,52,53,54,55,56,57} Identifying HIV infected individuals at the earliest stage possible serves as an opportunity to intervene and control the in the spread of HIV infection even further. Expanding HIV testing can also help reduce stigma that still exists and prohibits individuals from seeking HIV testing.^{124,125,126} Increasing providers and healthcare professionals who practice routine HIV testing can increase acceptability among patients and normalize HIV testing.¹⁰⁴

The public health impact of universally screening the donated blood supply for HIV and screening and treating HIV positive pregnant women has been successful in significantly reducing blood donor recipient and perinatal transmission.¹³⁰ Among pregnant women, screening has proven substantially more effective than risk-based testing for detecting unsuspected maternal HIV infection and preventing perinatal transmission.^{131,132,133} Public health interventions to reduce risk behaviors such as needle exchange programs have also had success among IDU; however reducing high risk sexual behavior, such as condom use, has not proven as effective.^{134,135,136,137,138} The public health impact of HAART treatment as prevention of HIV transmission rests on the identification of HIV infected at risk for transmitting and partners of HIV positive individuals at risk for acquisition.

4.0 FOURTH CHAPTER: FUTURE DIRECTIONS OF HIV TESTING

Programs to increase HIV testing should identify high risk individuals, promote entry and retention into care, and retain follow up for continuing treatment. Comprehensive HIV programs, such as the Pittsburgh AIDS Task Force, include testing, prevention and education counseling, case management, and referral serves for diagnosis and treatment of HIV, treatment of coinfections, follow-up and retention in care. Despite the effectiveness of such programs, many HIV positive individual remain unaware they are infected. These individuals may benefit from non-targeted routine testing programs in healthcare settings such as emergency departments and urgent care providers. Studies have shown testing in emergency departments increase the number of early diagnosed HIV infection.^{139,140} Hospital emergency departments and urgent care centers offer an alternative setting to test a large number of individuals for HIV infection who normally would not seek testing.^{141,142,143} However, time restraints, lack of funding, and limited staff have hindered uptake of HIV testing in emergency departments.¹⁴⁰ Another major concern is linkage and subsequent follow up to ensure the patient enters into HIV care. Strategies need to be in place to collect or update correct contact information, establish provider-patient trust, and allocate staff effort to formulate linkage to care relationships with the patient and HIV specific provider.¹⁴³ A cost-analysis found non-targeted HIV testing in an emergency department was less cost-effective, but identifies more HIV infection previously undiagnosed.¹³⁹ Improvements to reduce costs associated with HIV testing in emergency departments are needed.

National recommendations have called for increased efforts to diagnose early HIV infection. The CDC recently released an algorithm shown to accurately detect HIV before antibodies have developed using 4th generation antibody tests that measure the HIV p24-antigen

directly and confirming with HIV-1/HIV-2 differentiation tests.^{144,145} Studies demonstrated this algorithm performed better than the western blot at identifying acute phase HIV-1 infection and differentiating between HIV-1 and HIV-2 infection.^{146,147} The CDC reported results from two HIV screening programs evaluating this diagnostic algorithm.¹⁴⁵ Among patients aged 18-64 seen at an emergency department in Phoenix, Arizona, the CDC testing algorithm identified 37 undiagnosed HIV infections and 12 (34%) acute phase HIV infections. The Screening Targeted Populations to Interrupt On-going Chains of HIV Transmission with Enhanced Partner Notification (STOP) study program identified 654 (1.7%) of 37,876 patients aged 12 or older reactive for the 4th generation immune assay and further differentiated for HIV-1 (n=554: 84.7%) and for both HIV-1 and HIV-2 (n=1; 0.2%). Of the remaining 99 patients with a negative or indeterminate differentiation test result, confirmatory testing found HIV-1 RNA present in 55 patients who were 4th generation immune assay positive. Both screening programs conducted 4th generation HIV testing with the Architect HIV Ag/Ab Combo Assay (Abbott Diagnostics) and HIV-1/HIV-2 antibody differentiation with the Multispot HIV-1/HIV-2 Rapid Test (Bio-Rad Laboratories). Analysis from these studies found this HIV testing algorithm reduced missed diagnoses in 32% of the HIV positive patients at the Phoenix, Arizona emergency department program and 9% of patients in the STOP programs. These finding suggest non-targeted HIV testing with a 4th generation immune assay in emergency departments and acute care settings can improve diagnosis of acute HIV infection.

Home HIV rapid tests are now available for purchase and can be conducted in the privacy of ones' own home with the hopes of attracting individuals at risk for HIV who would not normally seek testing.^{148,149} Studies have shown untrained participants were able to easily perform the test, accurately interpret the results, and understood the need for confirmatory testing.^{150,151,152} One study reporting the use of home tests in HIV discordant MSM couples found regular testing with at home HIV rapid tests reduced risky behavior practices.¹⁵³ The marketing of home HIV tests aims to breakthrough certain barriers that prevented uptake of testing at clinics such as confidentiality and stigma fears; however issues surround the affordability of the test. The likelihood that high risk individuals will be able to afford the cost of the test is low and there is concern of disproportionate testing among healthy individuals at low risk for HIV infection.¹⁵⁴ There are some concerns about an individuals' reaction to a positive result in the absence of a trained counselor; however experts believe the wealth of resources available for HIV rapid test positive individuals are sufficient.¹⁵⁵ Lack of an HIV professional also limits the opportunity to accurately explain the window period. Data and trends for uptake of home tests are not yet available, and mixed view of optimism and skepticism surround the potential impact on diagnosing more individuals to help combat the HIV epidemic in the U.S.

Public health interventions to reduce the spread of HIV have been effective, but not sufficient. New approaches to prevention are needed to halt the HIV epidemic. Increasing the acceptability and utilization of HIV testing by both healthcare professionals and individuals requires a comprehensive and coordinated approach. In addition to maintaining non-healthcare programs that target vulnerable and underserved population, routine non-targeted HIV testing in healthcare settings, mainly emergency departments, and home testing offer promise to identify new HIV diagnosis.

BIBLIOGRAPHY

- ¹ Centers for Disease Control and Prevention. Monitoring Selected National HIV Prevention and Care Objectives by Using HIV Surveillance Data—United States and 6 Dependent Areas—2011. HIV Surveillance Supplemental Report 2013;Vol. 18(No. 5).
- ² Marks G, Crepaz N, Senterfitt JW, Janssen RS. Meta-analysis of high-risk sexual behavior in persons aware and unaware they are infected with HIV in the United States: implications for HIV prevention programs. J Acquir Immune Defic Syndr. 2005 Aug 1;39(4):446-53.
- ³ Centers for Disease Control and Prevention. Monitoring selected national HIV prevention and care objectives by using HIV surveillance data—United States and 6 U.S. dependent areas—2010. HIV Surveillance Supplemental Report 2012;Vol. 17(No. 3, part A).
- ⁴ Centers for Disease Control and Prevention. Diagnosis of HIV infection and AIDS in the United States and Dependent Areas. HIV Surveillance Report 2010;Vol. 22.
- ⁵ Cohen MS, Chen YQ, McCauley M, Gamble T, Hosseinipour MC, Kumarasamy N, Hakim JG, Kumwenda J, Grinsztejn B, Pilotto JH, Godbole SV, Mehendale S, Chariyalertsak S, Santos BR, Mayer KH, Hoffman IF, Eshleman SH, Piwowar-Manning E, Wang L, Makhema J, Mills LA, de Bruyn G, Sanne I, Eron J, Gallant J, Havlir D, Swindells S, Ribaudo H, Elharrar V, Burns D, Taha TE, Nielsen-Saines K, Celentano D, Essex M, Fleming TR; HPTN 052 Study Team. Prevention of HIV-1 infection with early antiretroviral therapy. N Engl J Med. 2011 Aug 11;365(6):493-505.
- ⁶ Centers for Disease Control and Prevention. Estimated HIV incidence in the United States, 2007-2010. HIV Surveillance Supplemental Report 2012;Vol. 17(No. 4).
- ⁷ Centers for Disease Control and Prevention. Diagnoses of HIV Infection and AIDS in the United States and Dependent Areas. HIV Surveillance Report 2011;Vol. 23.
- ⁸ Gortmaker SL, Hughes M, Cervia J, Brady M, Johnson GM, Seage GR 3rd, Song LY, Dankner WM, Oleske JM; Pediatric AIDS Clinical Trials Group Protocol 219 Team. Effect of combination therapy including protease inhibitors on mortality among children and adolescents infected with HIV-1. N Engl J Med. 2001 Nov 22;345(21):1522-8.
- ⁹ Gona P, Van Dyke RB, Williams PL, Dankner WM, Chernoff MC, Nachman SA, Seage GR 3rd. Incidence of opportunistic and other infections in HIV-infected children in the HAART era. JAMA. 2006 Jul 19;296(3):292-300.
- ¹⁰ Nesheim SR, Kapogiannis BG, Soe MM, Sullivan KM, Abrams E, Farley J, Palumbo P, Koenig LJ, Bulterys M. Trends in opportunistic infections in the pre- and post-highly active antiretroviral therapy eras among HIV-infected children in the Perinatal AIDS Collaborative Transmission Study, 1986-2004. Pediatrics. 2007 Jul;120(1):100-9.

- ¹¹ Palella FJ Jr, Deloria-Knoll M, Chmiel JS, Moorman AC, Wood KC, Greenberg AE, Holmberg SD; HIV Outpatient Study Investigators. Survival benefit of initiating antiretroviral therapy in HIV-infected persons in different CD4+ cell strata. Ann Intern Med. 2003 Apr 15;138(8):620-6.
- ¹² Centers for Disease Control and Prevention. Diagnosed HIV Infection among Adults and Adolescents in Metropolitan Statistical Areas—United States and Puerto Rico, 2011. HIV Surveillance Supplemental Reports 2011;Vol. 18 (No. 8).
- ¹³ Centers for Disease Control and Prevention. National Center for HIV/AIDS, Viral Hepatitis, STD, and TB Prevention (NCHHSTP) Atlas. Accessed April 9, 2014. http://gis.cdc.gov/GRASP/NCHHSTPAtlas/main.html
- ¹⁴ Dodd RY, Notari EP 4th, Stramer SL. Current prevalence and incidence of infectious disease markers and estimated window-period risk in the American Red Cross blood donor population. Transfusion. 2002 Aug;42(8):975-9.
- ¹⁵ Lindegren ML, Byers RH Jr, Thomas P, Davis SF, Caldwell B, Rogers M, Gwinn M, Ward JW, Fleming PL. Trends in perinatal transmission of HIV/AIDS in the United States. JAMA. 1999 Aug 11;282(6):531-8.
- ¹⁶ Cooper ER, Charurat M, Mofenson L, Hanson IC, Pitt J, Diaz C, Hayani K, Handelsman E, Smeriglio V, Hoff R, Blattner W; Women and Infants' Combination antiretroviral strategies for the treatment of pregnant HIV-1-infected women and prevention of perinatal HIV-1 transmission. J Acquir Immune Defic Syndr. 2002 Apr 15;29(5):484-94.
- ¹⁷ Committee on Obstetric Practice. ACOG committee opinion scheduled Cesarean delivery and the prevention of vertical transmission of HIV infection. Number 234, May 2000 (replaces number 219, August 1999). Int J Gynaecol Obstet. 2001 Jun;73(3):279-81.
- ¹⁸ World Health Organization. HIV and infant feeding: guidelines for decision-makers. Geneva, Switzerland; 2003:1-75.
- ¹⁹ Murray K, Oraka E. Racial and Ethnic Disparities in Future Testing Intentions for HIV: United States, 2007-2010: Results from the National Health Interview Survey. AIDS Behav. 2013 Oct 18. [Epub ahead of print]
- ²⁰ Fredriksen-Goldsen KI, Kim HJ, Barkan SE, Muraco A, Hoy-Ellis CP. Health disparities among lesbian, gay, and bisexual older adults: results from a population-based study. Am J Public Health. 2013 Oct;103(10):1802-9.
- ²¹ Centers for Disease Control and Prevention. Estimated lifetime risk for diagnosis of HIV infection among Hispanics/Latinos—37 states and Puerto Rico, 2007. Morbidity and Mortality Weekly Reports 2010;Vol. 59(40):1297-1301.

- ²² Rhodes SD, Duck S, Alonzo J, Ulloa JD, Aronson RE. Using community-based participatory research to prevent HIV disparities: assumptions and opportunities identified by the Latino partnership. J Acquir Immune Defic Syndr. 2013 Jun 1;63 Suppl 1:S32-5.
- ²³ Simard EP, Fransua M, Naishadham D, Jemal A. The influence of sex, race/ethnicity, and educational attainment on human immunodeficiency virus death rates among adults, 1993-2007. Arch Intern Med. 2012 Nov 12;172(20):1591-8.
- ²⁴ Cunningham W. HIV racial disparities: time to close the gaps. Arch Intern Med. 2012 Nov 12;172(20):1599-600.
- ²⁵ Moyer CS. HIV death rates among uneducated black men high Doctors should follow the CDC's testing guidelines and ensure that high-risk patients maintain their treatment, a study says. American Medical News. Posted Oct. 19, 2012. http://www.amaassn.org/amednews/2012/10/15/hlsb1019.htm
- ²⁶ Purcell DW, Johnson CH, Lansky A, Prejean J, Stein R, Denning P, Gau Z, Weinstock H, Su J, Crepaz N. Estimating the population size of men who have sex with men in the United States to obtain HIV and syphilis rates. Open AIDS J. 2012;6:98-107.
- ²⁷ Herbst JH, Jacobs ED, Finlayson TJ, McKleroy VS, Neumann MS, Crepaz N; HIV/AIDS Prevention Research Synthesis Team. Estimating HIV prevalence and risk behaviors of transgender persons in the United States: a systematic review. AIDS Behav. 2008 Jan;12(1):1-17.
- ²⁸ Poteat T, Reisner SL, Radix A. HIV epidemics among transgender women. Curr Opin HIV AIDS. 2013 Dec 5. [Epub ahead of print]
- ²⁹ American Psychological Association. Ethnic and Racial Minorities & Socioeconomic Status. http://www.apa.org/pi/ses/resources/publications/factsheet-erm.aspx
- ³⁰ Meyer PA, Penman-Aguilar A, Campbell VA, Graffunder C, O'Connor AE, Yoon PW. Conclusion and future directions: CDC Health Disparities and Inequalities Report -United States, 2013. MMWR Surveill Summ. 2013 Nov 22;62 Suppl 3:184-6.
- ³¹ Kidder DP, Wolitski RJ, Pals SL, Campsmith ML. Housing status and HIV risk behaviors among homeless and housed persons with HIV. J Acquir Immune Defic Syndr. 2008 Dec 1;49(4):451-5.
- ³² Kaiser Commission on Key Facts. Health Insurance Coverage and Access to Care Among African Americans. June 2000. http://www.healthpolicy.ucla.edu/pubs/files/healthinsurancecoverageandaccesstocareamo ngafrican%20americans.pdf

- ³³ Williams JK, Wyatt GE, Wingood G. The four Cs of HIV prevention with African Americans: crisis, condoms, culture, and community. Curr HIV/AIDS Rep. 2010 Nov;7(4):185-93.
- ³⁴ Beltran VM, Harrison KM, Hall HI, Dean HD. Collection of social determinant of health measures in U.S. national surveillance systems for HIV, viral hepatitis, STDs, and TB. Public Health Rep. 2011 Sep-Oct;126 Suppl 3:41-53.
- ³⁵ van Griensven F, Stall RD. Racial disparity in HIV incidence in MSM in the United States: how can it be reduced? AIDS. 2014 Jan 2;28(1):129-30.
- ³⁶ Messer LC, Quinlivan EB, Parnell H, Roytburd K, Adimora AA, Bowditch N, DeSousa N. Barriers and facilitators to testing, treatment entry, and engagement in care by HIVpositive women of color. AIDS Patient Care STDS. 2013 Jul;27(7):398-407.
- ³⁷ Blackstock OJ, Tate JP, Akgün KM, Crystal S, Duggal M, Edelman EJ, Gibert CL, Gordon KS, Rimland D, Rodriguez-Barradas MC, Wang EA, Fiellin DA, Justice AC. Sex disparities in overall burden of disease among HIV-infected individuals in the Veterans Affairs healthcare system. J Gen Intern Med. 2013 Jul;28 Suppl 2:S577-82.
- ³⁸ Cargill VA. Linkage, Engagement, and Retention in HIV Care Among Vulnerable Populations. Top Antivir Med. Sept/Oct 2013;21(4):133-137.
- ³⁹ Sutton MY, Lanier YA, Willis LA, Castellanos T, Dominguez K, Fitzpatrick L, Miller KS. Strengthening the network of mentored, underrepresented minority scientists and leaders to reduce HIV-related health disparities. Am J Public Health. 2013 Dec;103(12):2207-14.
- ⁴⁰ Centers for Disease Control and Prevention. HIV Testing at CDC-Funded Sites, United States, Puerto Rico, and the U.S. Virgin Islands, 2010. September 2012
- ⁴¹ Centers for Disease Control and Prevention. HIV Testing Trends in the United States, 2000-2011. January 2013.
- ⁴² Farnham PG, Hutchinson AB, Sansom SL, Branson BM. Comparing the costs of HIV screening strategies and technologies in health-care settings. Public Health Rep. 2008 Nov-Dec;123 Suppl 3:51-62.
- ⁴³ Long EF, Brandeau ML, Owens DK. The cost-effectiveness and population outcomes of expanded HIV screening and antiretroviral treatment in the United States. Ann Intern Med. 2010 Dec 21;153(12):778-89.
- ⁴⁴ Paltiel AD, Weinstein MC, Kimmel AD, Seage GR 3rd, Losina E, Zhang H, Freedberg KA, Walensky RP. Expanded screening for HIV in the United States--an analysis of costeffectiveness. N Engl J Med. 2005 Feb 10;352(6):586-95.

- ⁴⁵ Centers for Disease Control and Prevention. Assessment of 2010 CDC-funded Health Department HIV Testing Spending and Outcomes. Program Evaluation Branch Update 2013.
- ⁴⁶ Centers for Disease Control and Prevention. Sexually Transmitted Diseases Treatment Guidelines, 2010. Detection of HIV Infection: Screening and Establishing a Diagnosis. Morbidity and Mortality Weekly Report. 2010; Vol. 59(RR12):1-110.
- ⁴⁷ The White House Office of National AIDS Policy. National HIV/AIDS Strategy for the United States. July 2010.
- ⁴⁸ Wenger NS, Kusseling FS, Beck K, Shapiro MF. Sexual behavior of individuals infected with the human immunodeficiency virus: the need for intervention. Arch Intern Med. 1994 Aug 22;154(16):1849-54.
- ⁴⁹ Desenclos JC, Papaevangelou G, Ancelle-Park R. Knowledge of HIV serostatus and preventive behaviour among European injecting drug users. The European Community Study Group on HIV in Injecting Drug Users. AIDS. 1993 Oct;7(10):1371-7.
- ⁵⁰ Dawson J, Fitzpatrick R, McLean J, Hart G, Boulton M. The HIV test and sexual behavior in a sample of homosexually active men. Soc Sci Med. 1991;32(6):683-8.
- ⁵¹ Rietmeijer CA, Kane MS, Simons PZ, Corby NH, Wolitski RJ, Higgins DL, Judson FN, Cohn DL. Increasing the use of bleach and condoms among injecting drug users in Denver: outcomes of a targeted, community-level HIV prevention program. AIDS. 1996 Mar;10(3):291-8.
- ⁵² Booth RE, Campbell BK, Mikulich-Gilbertson SK, Tillotson CJ, Choi D, Robinson J, Calsyn DA, Mandler RN, Jenkins LM, Thompson LL, Dempsey CL, Liepman MR, McCarty D. Reducing HIV-related risk behaviors among injection drug users in residential detoxification. AIDS Behav. 2011 Jan;15(1):30-44.
- ⁵³ Doll LS, O'Malley PM, Pershing AL, Darrow WW, Hessol NA, Lifson AR.. High-risk sexual behavior and knowledge of HIV antibody status in the San Francisco City Clinic Cohort. Health Psychol. 1990;9(3):253-65.
- ⁵⁴ Cleary PD, Van Devanter N, Rogers TF, Singer E, Shipton-Levy R, Steilen M, Stuart A, Avorn J, Pindyck J. Behavior changes after notification of HIV infection. Am J Public Health. 1991 Dec;81(12):1586-90.
- ⁵⁵ Fox R, Odaka NJ, Brookmeyer R, Polk BF. Effect of HIV antibody disclosure on subsequent sexual activity in homosexual men. AIDS. 1987 Dec;1(4):241-6.

- ⁵⁶ van Griensven GJ, de Vroome EM, Tielman RA, Goudsmit J, de Wolf F, van der Noordaa J, Coutinho RA. Effect of human immunodeficiency virus (HIV) antibody knowledge on high-risk sexual behavior with steady and nonsteady sexual partners among homosexual men. Am J Epidemiol. 1989 Mar;129(3):596-603.
- ⁵⁷ Coates TJ, Morin SF, McKusick L. Behavioral consequences of AIDS antibody testing among gay men. JAMA. 1987 Oct 9;258(14):1889.
- ⁵⁸ Cohen MS, Shaw GM, McMichael AJ, Haynes BF. Acute HIV-1 infection. N Engl J Med. 2011 May 19;364(20):1943-54.
- ⁵⁹ Pilcher CD, Tien HC, Eron JJ Jr, Vernazza PL, Leu SY, Stewart PW, Goh LE, Cohen MS; Quest Study; Duke-UNC-Emory Acute HIV Consortium. Brief but efficient: acute HIV infection and the sexual transmission of HIV. J Infect Dis. 2004 May 15;189(10):1785-92.
- ⁶⁰ Brenner BG, Roger M, Routy JP, Moisi D, Ntemgwa M, Matte C, Baril JG, Thomas R, Rouleau D, Bruneau J, Leblanc R, Legault M, Tremblay C, Charest H, Wainberg MA; Quebec Primary HIV Infection Study Group. High rates of forward transmission events after acute/early HIV-1 infection. J Infect Dis. 2007 Apr 1;195(7):951-9.
- ⁶¹ Quinn TC, Wawer MJ, Sewankambo N, Serwadda D, Li C, Wabwire-Mangen F, Meehan MO, Lutalo T, Gray RH. Viral load and heterosexual transmission of human immunodeficiency virus type 1. Rakai Project Study Group. N Engl J Med. 2000 Mar 30;342(13):921-9.
- ⁶² Centers for Disease Control and Prevention. National Center for HIV/AIDS, Viral Hepatitis, STD, and TB Prevention. Division of HIV/AIDS Prevention. Expanded Testing Program. March 2012.
- ⁶³ Centers for Disease Control and Prevention. Public Health Service guidelines for counseling and antibody testing to prevent HIV infection and AIDS. Morbidity and Mortality Weekly Reports 1987;Vol. 36:509-515.
- ⁶⁴ Centers for Disease Control and Prevention. Recommendations for HIV testing services for inpatients and outpatients in acute-care hospital settings. Morbidity and Mortality Weekly Reports 1993;Vol. 42(RR2):1-10.
- ⁶⁵ Centers for Disease Control and Prevention. Technical guidance on HIV counseling. Morbidity and Mortality Weekly Reports 1993;Vol. 42(RR2):11-17.
- ⁶⁶ Connor EM, Sperling RS, Gelber R, Kiselev P, Scott G, O'Sullivan MJ, VanDyke R, Bey M, Shearer W, Jacobson RL, Pediatric AIDS Clinical Trials Group Protocol 076 Study Group. Reduction of maternal-infant transmission of human immunodeficiency virus type 1 with zidovudine treatment. N Engl J Med. 1994 Nov 3;331(18):1173-80.

- ⁶⁷ Centers for Disease Control and Prevention. U.S. Public Health Service recommendations for human immunodeficiency virus counseling and voluntary testing for pregnant women. Morbidity and Mortality Weekly Reports 1995;Vol. 44(RR7).
- ⁶⁸ Centers for Disease Control and Prevention. Revised recommendations for HIV screening of pregnant women. Morbidity and Mortality Weekly Reports 2001;Vol. 50(RR19):63-85.
- ⁶⁹ Centers for Disease Control and Prevention. Revised guidelines for HIV counseling, testing, and referral. Morbidity and Mortality Weekly Reports 2001;Vol. 50(RR19):1-62.
- ⁷⁰ Troccoli K, Pollard H 3rd, McMahon M, Foust E, Erickson K, Schulkin J. Human immunodeficiency virus counseling and testing practices among North Carolina providers. Obstet Gynecol. 2002 Sep;100(3):420-7.
- ⁷¹ Epstein RM, Morse DS, Frankel RM, Frarey L, Anderson K, Beckman HB. Awkward moments in patient-physician communication about HIV risk. Ann Intern Med. 1998 Mar 15;128(6):435-42.
- ⁷² Centers for Disease Control and Prevention. Advancing HIV prevention: new strategies for a changing epidemic---United States, 2003. Morbidity and Mortality Weekly Reports 2003; Vol. 52:329-332.
- ⁷³ United States Department of Health and Human Services. Advancing HIV Prevention: Interim Technical Guidance for Selected Interventions. http://www.cdc.gov/hiv/topics/prev_prog/ahp/resources/guidelines/pdf/AHPIntGuidfinal. pdf
- ⁷⁴ Centers for Disease Control and Prevention. Revised Recommendations for HIV Testing of Adults, Adolescents, and Pregnant Women in Health-Care Settings Morbidity and Mortality Weekly Reports: Recommendations and Reports 2006; Vol. 55(RR14):1-17.
- ⁷⁵ Centers for Disease Control and Prevention. State HIV Testing Laws: Consent and Counseling Requirements. http://www.cdc.gov/hiv/policies/law/states/index.html
- ⁷⁶ Neff S, Goldschmidt R. Centers for Disease Control and Prevention 2006 Human Immunodeficiency Virus Testing Recommendations and State Testing Laws. JAMA. 2011;305(17):1767-8.
- ⁷⁷ National HIV/AIDS Clinicians' Consultation Center (NCCC). Compendium of State HIV Testing Laws: Quick Reference Guide for Clinicians. September 19, 2011.
- ⁷⁸ Pilcher CD, Louie B, Facente S, Keating S, Hackett J Jr, Vallari A, Hall C, Dowling T, Busch MP, Klausner JD, Hecht FM, Liska S, Pandori MW. Performance of Rapid Point-of-Care and Laboratory Tests for Acute and Established HIV Infection in San Francisco. PLoS One. 2013 Dec 12;8(12):e80629.

- ⁷⁹ Branson BM. State of the art for diagnosis of HIV infection. Clin Infect Dis. 2007 Dec 15;45 Suppl 4:S221-5.
- ⁸⁰ Stekler J, Maenza J, Stevens CE, Swenson PD, Coombs RW, Wood RW, Campbell MS, Nickle DC, Collier AC, Golden MR. Screening for acute HIV infection: lessons learned. Clin Infect Dis. 2007 Feb 1;44(3):459-61.
- ⁸¹ Kelly JA, Morin SF, Remien RH, Steward WT, Higgins JA, Seal DW, Dubrow R, Atkinson JH, Kerndt PR, Pinkerton SD, Mayer K, Sikkema KJ. Lessons learned about behavioral science and acute/early HIV infection. The NIMH Multisite Acute HIV Infection Study: V. AIDS Behav. 2009 Dec;13(6):1068-74.
- ⁸² Mylonakis E, Paliou M, Lally M, Flanigan TP, Rich JD. Laboratory testing for infection with the human immunodeficiency virus: established and novel approaches. Am J Med. 2000 Nov;109(7):568-76.
- ⁸³ United States Department of Health & Human Services. The Health Insurance Portability and Accountability Act of 1996 (HIPAA). http://www.hhs.gov/ocr/privacy/hipaa/understanding/index.html
- ⁸⁴ Commonwealth of Pennsylvania. Confidentiality of HIV-Related Information Act. Act of 1990, P.L. 585, No. 148.
- ⁸⁵ Prochaska JO, DiClemente CC. Stages of change in the modification of problem behavior. Proq Behav Modif. 1992;28:183-218.
- ⁸⁶ Conviser R, Pounds MB. The role of ancillary services in client-centred systems of care. AIDS Care. 2002 Aug;14 Suppl 1:S119-31.
- ⁸⁷ Conviser R, Pounds MB. Background for the studies on ancillary services and primary care use. AIDS Care. 2002 Aug;14 Suppl 1:S7-14. Review.
- ⁸⁸ Gallant JE, Adimora AA, Carmichael JK, Horberg M, Kitahata M, Quinlivan EB, Raper JL, Selwyn P, Williams SB, Infectious Diseases Society of America, Ryan White Medical Providers Coalition. Essential components of effective HIV care: a policy paper of the HIV Medicine Association of the Infectious Diseases Society of America and the Ryan White Medical Providers Coalition. Clin Infect Dis. 2011 Dec;53(11):1043-50.
- ⁸⁹ Ojikutu B, Holman J, Kunches L, Landers S, Perlmutter D, Ward M, Fant G, Hirschhorn L. Interdisciplinary HIV care in a changing healthcare environment in the USA. AIDS Care. 2013 Nov 6. [Epub ahead of print]
- ⁹⁰ Greenberg AE, Purcell DW, Gordon CM, Flores S, Grossman C, Fisher HH, Barasky RJ. NIH support of Centers for AIDS Research and Department of Health Collaborative Public Health Research: advancing CDC's Enhanced Comprehensive HIV Prevention Planning project. J Acquir Immune Defic Syndr. 2013 Nov 1;64 Suppl 1:S1-6.

- ⁹¹ Goldenberg T, Clarke D, Stephenson R. "Working together to reach a goal": MSM's perceptions of dyadic HIV care for same-sex male couples. J Acquir Immune Defic Syndr. 2013 Nov 1;64 Suppl 1:S52-61.
- ⁹² U.S. Department of Health and Human Services. Health Resources and Services Administration (HRSA). HIV/AIDS Bureau. Guide for HIV/AIDS Clinical Care. January 2011.
- ⁹³ National Institutes of Health. AIDS Info: Offering information on HIV/AIDS treatment, prevention, and research. Federally approved HIV/AIDS medical practice guidelines. http://aidsinfo.nih.gov/guidelines
- ⁹⁴ Pittsburgh AIDS Task Force. Charles Christen, Executive Director. http://www.patf.org/aboutus
- ⁹⁵ United States Department of Health and Human Services. Health Resources and Services Administration (HRSA). HIV/AIDS Program: Ryan White HIV/AIDS Program. http://hab.hrsa.gov/
- ⁹⁶ Allegheny County Health Department. STD/HIV Program: 2010 Annual STD Summary. http://www.achd.net/std/pubs/pdf/2010_STD_Rpt.pdf
- ⁹⁷ OraSure Technologies, Inc. OraQuick ADVANCE® Rapid HIV-1/2 Antibody Test. Manufacturer Insert. https://orc.orasure.com/default.aspx?pageid=17
- ⁹⁸ OraSure Technologies, Inc. OraSure® HIV-1 Oral Specimen Collection Device. Manufacturer Insert. http://www.orasure.com/products-infectious/products-infectious-oralfluid.asp
- ⁹⁹ Institute of Medicine. No time to lose: getting more from HIV prevention. Washington, DC; National Academy Press. September 27, 2000.
- ¹⁰⁰ Bozzette SA. Routine screening for HIV infection--timely and cost-effective. N Engl J Med. 2005 Feb 10;352(6):620-1.
- ¹⁰¹ Beckwith CG, Flanigan TP, del Rio C, Simmons E, Wing EJ, Carpenter CC, Bartlett JG. It is time to implement routine, not risk-based, HIV testing. Clin Infect Dis. 2005 Apr 1;40(7):1037-40.
- ¹⁰² Frieden TR, Das-Douglas M, Kellerman SE, Henning KJ. Applying public health principles to the HIV epidemic. N Engl J Med. 2005 Dec 1;353(22):2397-402.
- ¹⁰³ Klein D, Hurley LB, Merrill D, Quesenberry CP Jr; Consortium for HIV/AIDS Interregional Research. Review of medical encounters in the 5 years before a diagnosis of HIV-1 infection: implications for early detection. J Acquir Immune Defic Syndr. 2003 Feb 1;32(2):143-52.

- ¹⁰⁴ Fincher-Mergi M, Cartone KJ, Mischler J, Pasieka P, Lerner EB, Billittier AJ 4th. Assessment of emergency department health care professionals' behaviors regarding HIV testing and referral for patients with STDs. AIDS Patient Care STDS. 2002 Nov;16(11):549-53.
- ¹⁰⁵ Walensky RP, Weinstein MC, Kimmel AD, Seage GR 3rd, Losina E, Sax PE, Zhang H, Smith HE, Freedberg KA, Paltiel AD. Routine human immunodeficiency virus testing: an economic evaluation of current guidelines. Am J Med. 2005 Mar;118(3):292-300.
- ¹⁰⁶ Rothman RE. Current Centers for Disease Control and Prevention guidelines for HIV counseling, testing, and referral: critical role of and a call to action for emergency physicians. Ann Emerg Med. 2004 Jul;44(1):31-42.
- ¹⁰⁷ Lyons MS, Lindsell CJ, Ledyard HK, Frame PT, Trott AT. Emergency department HIV testing and counseling: an ongoing experience in a low-prevalence area. Ann Emerg Med. 2005 Jul;46(1):22-8.
- ¹⁰⁸ Alpert PL, Shuter J, DeShaw MG, Webber MP, Klein RS. Factors associated with unrecognized HIV-1 infection in an inner-city emergency department. Ann Emerg Med. 1996 Aug;28(2):159-64.
- ¹⁰⁹ Jenkins TC, Gardner EM, Thrun MW, Cohn DL, Burman W. Risk-based human immunodeficiency virus (HIV) testing fails to detect the majority of HIV-infected persons in medical care settings. Sex Transm Dis. 2006 May;33(5):329-33.
- ¹¹⁰ Metsch LR, Feaster DJ, Gooden L, Schackman BR, Matheson T, Das M, Golden MR, Huffaker S, Haynes LF, Tross S, Malotte CK, Douaihy A, Korthuis PT, Duffus WA, Henn S, Bolan R, Philip SS, Castro JG, Castellon PC, McLaughlin G, Mandler RN, Branson B, Colfax GN. Effect of risk-reduction counseling with rapid HIV testing on risk of acquiring sexually transmitted infections: the AWARE randomized clinical trial. JAMA. 2013 Oct 23;310(16):1701-10.
- ¹¹¹ Kamb ML, Fishbein M, Douglas JM Jr, Rhodes F, Rogers J, Bolan G, Zenilman J, Hoxworth T, Malotte CK, Iatesta M, Kent C, Lentz A, Graziano S, Byers RH, Peterman TA. Efficacy of risk-reduction counseling to prevent human immunodeficiency virus and sexually transmitted diseases: a randomized controlled trial. Project RESPECT Study Group. JAMA. 1998 Oct 7;280(13):1161-7.
- ¹¹² Metcalf CA, Douglas JM Jr, Malotte CK, Cross H, Dillon BA, Paul SM, Padilla SM, Brookes LC, Lindsey CA, Byers RH, Peterman TA; RESPECT-2 Study Group. Relative efficacy of prevention counseling with rapid and standard HIV testing: a randomized, controlled trial (RESPECT-2). Sex Transm Dis. 2005 Feb;32(2):130-8.

- ¹¹³ Metsch LR, Feaster DJ, Gooden L, Matheson T, Mandler RN, Haynes L, Tross S, Kyle T, Gallup D, Kosinski AS, Douaihy A, Schackman BR, Das M, Lindblad R, Erickson S, Korthuis PT, Martino S, Sorensen JL, Szapocznik J, Walensky R, Branson B, Colfax GN. Implementing rapid HIV testing with or without risk-reduction counseling in drug treatment centers: results of a randomized trial. Am J Public Health. 2012 Jun;102(6):1160-7.
- ¹¹⁴ Koblin B, Chesney M, Coates T; EXPLORE Study Team. Effects of a behavioural intervention to reduce acquisition of HIV infection among men who have sex with men: the EXPLORE randomised controlled study. Lancet. 2004 Jul 3-9;364(9428):41-50.
- ¹¹⁵ Rhodes SD, Hergenrather KC, Bloom FR, Leichliter JS, Montaño J. Outcomes from a community-based, participatory lay health adviser HIV/STD prevention intervention for recently arrived immigrant Latino men in rural North Carolina. AIDS Educ Prev. 2009 Oct;21(5 Suppl):103-8.
- ¹¹⁶ Wilton L, Herbst JH, Coury-Doniger P, Painter TM, English G, Alvarez ME, Scahill M, Roberson MA, Lucas B, Johnson WD, Carey JW. Efficacy of an HIV/STI prevention intervention for black men who have sex with men: findings from the Many Men, Many Voices (3MV) project. AIDS Behav. 2009 Jun;13(3):532-44.
- ¹¹⁷ Hightow-Weidman LB, Smith JC, Valera E, Matthews DD, Lyons P. Keeping them in "STYLE": finding, linking, and retaining young HIV-positive black and Latino men who have sex with men in care. AIDS Patient Care STDS. 2011 Jan;25(1):37-45.
- ¹¹⁸ Task Force on Community Preventive Services. Recommendations to increase testing and identification of HIV-positive individuals through partner counseling and referral services. Am J Prev Med 2007;33(2S):S88.
- ¹¹⁹ CDC. Rapid HIV Testing in Outreach and Other Community Settings --- United States, 2004-2006. MMWR 2007; 56 RR-47: 1233-1237.
- ¹²⁰ CDC. Rapid HIV Test Distribution --- United States, 2003-2005. MMWR 2006; 55 RR-24; 673-676
- ¹²¹ Coil CJ, Haukoos JS, Witt MD, Wallace RC, Lewis RJ. Evaluation of an emergency department referral system for outpatient HIV testing. J Acquir Immune Defic Syndr. 2004 Jan 1;35(1):52-5.
- ¹²² Kelen GD, Shahan JB, Quinn TC. Emergency department-based HIV screening and counseling: experience with rapid and standard serologic testing. Ann Emerg Med. 1999 Feb;33(2):147-55.
- ¹²³ Weinhardt LS, Carey MP, Johnson BT, Bickham NL. Effects of HIV counseling and testing on sexual risk behavior: a meta-analytic review of published research, 1985-1997. Am J Public Health. 1999 Sep;89(9):1397-405.

- ¹²⁴ Copenhaver MM, Fisher JD. Experts outline ways to decrease the decade-long yearly rate of 40,000 new HIV infections in the US. AIDS Behav. 2006 Jan;10(1):105-14.
- ¹²⁵ Spielberg F, Branson BM, Goldbaum GM, Lockhart D, Kurth A, Celum CL, Rossini A, Critchlow CW, Wood RW. Overcoming barriers to HIV testing: preferences for new strategies among clients of a needle exchange, a sexually transmitted disease clinic, and sex venues for men who have sex with men. J Acquir Immune Defic Syndr. 2003 Mar 1;32(3):318-27.
- ¹²⁶ Hutchinson AB, Corbie-Smith G, Thomas SB, Mohanan S, del Rio C. Understanding the patient's perspective on rapid and routine HIV testing in an inner-city urgent care center. AIDS Educ Prev. 2004 Apr;16(2):101-14.
- ¹²⁷ Irwin KL, Valdiserri RO, Holmberg SD. The acceptability of voluntary HIV antibody testing in the United States: a decade of lessons learned. AIDS. 1996 Dec;10(14):1707-17.
- ¹²⁸ Walensky RP, Weinstein MC, Smith HE, Freedberg KA, Paltiel AD. Optimal allocation of testing dollars: the example of HIV counseling, testing, and referral. Med Decis Making. 2005 May-Jun;25(3):321-9.
- ¹²⁹ Sanders GD, Bayoumi AM, Sundaram V, Bilir SP, Neukermans CP, Rydzak CE, Douglass LR, Lazzeroni LC, Holodniy M, Owens DK. Cost-effectiveness of screening for HIV in the era of highly active antiretroviral therapy. N Engl J Med. 2005 Feb 10;352(6):570-85.
- ¹³⁰ Branson BM, Viall A, Marum E. Expanding HIV testing: back to the future. J Acquir Immune Defic Syndr. 2013 Jul;63 Suppl 2:S117-21.
- ¹³¹ Barbacci MB, Dalabetta GA, Repke JT, Talbot BL, Charache P, Polk BF, Chaisson RE. Human immunodeficiency virus infection in women attending an inner-city prenatal clinic: ineffectiveness of targeted screening. Sex Transm Dis. 1990 Jul-Sep;17(3):122-6.
- ¹³² Fehrs LJ, Hill D, Kerndt PR, Rose TP, Henneman C. Targeted HIV screening at a Los Angeles prenatal/family planning health center. Am J Public Health. 1991 May;81(5):619-22.
- ¹³³ Lindsay MK, Adefris W, Peterson HB, Williams H, Johnson J, Klein L. Determinants of acceptance of routine voluntary human immunodeficiency virus testing in an inner-city prenatal population. Obstet Gynecol. 1991 Oct;78(4):678-80.
- ¹³⁴ Kecojevic A, Lindsell CJ, Lyons MS, Holtgrave D, Torres G, Heffelfinger J, Brown J, Couture E, Jung J, Connell S, Rothman RE; National Emergency Department HIV Testing Consortium. Public health and clinical impact of increasing emergency department-based HIV testing: perspectives from the 2007 conference of the National Emergency Department HIV Testing Consortium. Ann Emerg Med. 2011 Jul;58(1 Suppl 1):S151-9.e1.

- ¹³⁵ Sabharwal CJ, Sepkowitz K, Mehta R, Shepard C, Bodach S, Torian L, Begier EM. Impact of accelerated progression to AIDS on public health monitoring of late HIV diagnosis. AIDS Patient Care STDS. 2011 Mar;25(3):143-51.
- ¹³⁶ Uhrig JD, Bann CM, Wasserman J, Guenther-Grey C, Eroğlu D. Audience reactions and receptivity to HIV prevention message concepts for people living with HIV. AIDS Educ Prev. 2010 Apr;22(2):110-25.
- ¹³⁷ Fisher WA, Kohut T, Fisher JD. AIDS Exceptionalism: On the Social Psychology of HIV Prevention Research. Soc Issues Policy Rev. 2009 Dec;3(1):45-77.
- ¹³⁸ Udeagu CC, Bocour A, Gale I, Begier EM. Provider and client acceptance of a health department enhanced approach to improve HIV partner notification in New York City. Sex Transm Dis. 2010 Apr;37(4):266-71.
- ¹³⁹ Haukoos JS, Campbell JD, Conroy AA, Hopkins E, Bucossi MM, Sasson C, Al-Tayyib AA, Thrun MW; Denver ED HIV Opt-Out Study Group. Programmatic Cost Evaluation of Nontargeted Opt-Out Rapid HIV Screening in the Emergency Department. PLoS One. 2013 Dec 31;8(12):e81565.
- ¹⁴⁰ Tai M, Merchant RC. HIV testing in US emergency departments, outpatient ambulatory medical departments, and physician offices, 1992-2010. AIDS Care. 2014 Jan 2. [Epub ahead of print]
- ¹⁴¹ Rothman RE, Hsieh YH, Harvey L, Connell S, Lindsell CJ, Haukoos J, White DA, Kecojevic A, Lyons MS. 2009 US emergency department HIV testing practices. Ann Emerg Med. 2011 Jul;58(1 Suppl 1):S3-9.e1-4.
- ¹⁴² Goggin MA, Davidson AJ, Cantril SV, O'Keefe LK, Douglas JM. The extent of undiagnosed HIV infection among emergency department patients: results of a blinded seroprevalence survey and a pilot HIV testing program. J Emerg Med. 2000 Jul;19(1):13-9.
- ¹⁴³ Christopoulos KA, Massey AD, Lopez AM, Hare CB, Johnson MO, Pilcher CD, Fielding H, Dawson-Rose C. Patient perspectives on the experience of being newly diagnosed with HIV in the emergency department/urgent care clinic of a public hospital. PLoS One. 2013 Aug 26;8(8):e74199.
- ¹⁴⁴ Branson BM, Mermin J. Establishing the diagnosis of HIV infection: new tests and a new algorithm for the United States. J Clin Virol. 2011 Dec;52 Suppl 1:S3-4.
- ¹⁴⁵ Centers for Disease Control and Prevention. Detection of Acute HIV Infection in Two Evaluations of a New HIV Diagnostic Testing Algorithm — United States, 2011-2013. June 21, 2013 / 62(24);489-494.

- ¹⁴⁶ Styer LM, Sullivan TJ, Parker MM. Evaluation of an alternative supplemental testing strategy for HIV diagnosis by retrospective analysis of clinical HIV testing data. J Clin Virol. 2011 Dec;52 Suppl 1:S35-40.
- ¹⁴⁷ Nasrullah M, Wesolowski LG, Meyer WA 3rd, Owen SM, Masciotra S, Vorwald C, Becker WJ, Branson BM. Performance of a fourth-generation HIV screening assay and an alternative HIV diagnostic testing algorithm. AIDS. 2013 Mar 13;27(5):731-7.
- ¹⁴⁸ Myers JE, El-Sadr WM, Zerbe A, Branson BM. Rapid HIV self-testing: long in coming but opportunities beckon. AIDS. 2013 Jul 17;27(11):1687-95.
- ¹⁴⁹ Koval CE. Home testing for HIV: hopefully, a step forward. Cleve Clin J Med. 2012 Oct;79(10):713-6.
- ¹⁵⁰ Ibitoye M, Frasca T, Giguere R, Carballo-Diéguez A. Home Testing Past, Present and Future: Lessons Learned and Implications for HIV Home Tests. AIDS Behav. 2013 Nov 27. [Epub ahead of print]
- ¹⁵¹ Nour S, Hsieh YH, Rothman RE, Jett-Goheen M, Langhorne O, Wu L, Peterson S, Gaydos CA. Patients Can Accurately Perform Their Own Rapid HIV Point-of-Care Test in the Emergency Department. Point Care. 2012 Dec 1;11(4):176-179.
- ¹⁵² Food and Drug Administration. 102nd Meeting of The Blood Product Advisory Committee (BPAC). Evaluation of the Safety and Effectiveness of the OraQuick In-Home HIV Test. May 15, 2012.
- ¹⁵³ Frasca T, Balan I, Ibitoye M, Valladares J, Dolezal C, Carballo-Diéguez A. Attitude and Behavior Changes Among Gay and Bisexual Men After Use of Rapid Home HIV Tests to Screen Sexual Partners. AIDS Behav. 2013 Sep 28. [Epub ahead of print]
- ¹⁵⁴ Willyard C. Recommendation of HIV test brings diagnostic dilemma home. Nat Med. 2012 Jun 6;18(6):841
- ¹⁵⁵ Paltiel AD, Walensky RP. Home HIV testing: good news but not a game changer. Ann Intern Med. 2012 Nov 20;157(10):744-6.